2008

Kang S. Park and Marsha Park v. Gary B. Stanford : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j), because this appeal has been transferred to this Court from the Utah Supreme Court, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues on appeal are as follows:

1. Whether the district court erred in entering summary judgment against Appellant Gary B. Stanford (“Stanford”) in the amount of \$1,009,872.35 where there was a question of fact and ambiguity as to whether Stanford’s guarantee was limited to a total amount of \$500,000.00.

This Court reviews a district court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600. Stanford preserved this issue below in his memoranda in opposition to Plaintiffs’ motions for summary judgment and in a hearing before Judge Quinn. (R. 161-168; 501-503; 781 Hearings Tran. at 9-11.)¹

2. Whether the district court erred by not giving Stanford credit for payments which Stanford made to the Plaintiffs where the Plaintiffs knew the payments came from Stanford and not the debtor.

¹ Citation conventions as used in this brief are as follows: “R.” refers to the record on appeal, “Hearings Tran.” refers to the transcript of the hearings held before Judge Quinn on March 13, 2006, February 16, 2007, and April 29, 2008, and included in the record on appeal at page 781, “Add. Ex.” refers to an exhibit included in this brief’s Addendum.

This Court reviews a district court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Orvis, 2008 UT 2, ¶

6. Stanford preserved this issue below by motion and at a hearing before Judge Quinn.

(R. 168-170; R. 781 Hearings Tran. at 9-11.)

3. Whether the district court should reduce the \$1,009,872.35 judgment amount by the difference between the fair market value of the commercial property which the Plaintiffs foreclosed on and purchased where Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 requires such a reduction.

Due to the exceptional procedural circumstances of this case, this issue was not preserved on appeal below. Pursuant to Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(5)(B), Stanford provides the following statement of grounds for seeking review of this new issue:

In April of 1994, Stanford and his business associate Richard Buckway ("Buckway") entered into an agreement with the Parks to purchase a commercial real estate property in Ogden, Utah (the "Ogden Property"). (R. 82.) The parties later agreed that as part of the Ogden Property purchase, Snowmass, LLC ("Snowmass") would assume the Parks' obligation to pay a first position deed on the Ogden Property in favor of Security Mutual Life Insurance Company ("Security Mutual"). (R. 154.) Snowmass assumed the Security Mutual loan and the Parks were released from liability on the Security Mutual Note. (R. 160.)

On or about July 1, 1995, Snowmass and the Parks executed a Trust Deed Note wherein Snowmass promised to pay the Parks \$645,683.27. (R. 3.) Stanford signed the Note in his individual capacity as a guarantor. (R. at 4.)

In December of 2007, the Parks purchased the Security Mutual Note back. (R. at 601; 616-619.) After granting summary judgment in favor of the Parks, the district court issued its final judgment against Stanford on June 3, 2008. (R. 759-763.) The Judgment's total amount was \$1,009,872.35, and was comprised of \$500,000.00 in principal based on Stanford's guarantee, \$508,463.91 in interest on the principal amount, and \$1,408.44 in costs. (R. 760.) At the time the Judgment was issued, the Parks were the holders of the Security Mutual Note and had not begun any foreclosure proceedings on the Ogden Property.

However, on June 26, 2008, the Parks' legal counsel, Keith W. Meade ("Meade") issued a Notice of Trustee's Sale which scheduled a public auction of the Ogden Property on July 31, 2008. (A copy of the Notice of Trustee's Sale is included in this brief's Addendum as Exhibit "A.") The public auction was held on July 31, 2008, and the Parks purchased the Ogden Property for a credit bid of \$200,000.00. (A copy of the bid price is included in this brief's Addendum as Exhibit "B.") The Parks had previously submitted expert testimony that the Ogden Property's market value as of April 21, 2006, was between \$425,000.00 and \$450,000.00. (R. 430-431.)

Utah Code Ann § 57-1-32 requires that a court deduct the fair market value of a property on the date of its sale pursuant to a trust deed from any judgment amount rendered against a debtor. Utah Code Ann § 57-1-32 (2008). The Utah Supreme Court has extended this protection to guarantors as well. See Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1, 3 (Utah 1995). Accordingly, a guarantor must be afforded the benefit of having any potential judgment against him reduced by the fair market value of the property on the date of its sale. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that the purpose of this protection is to prevent a creditor from receiving a double recovery where he nets not only a deficiency judgment but also the property itself. Id.

In this case, the issue of whether the Parks' judgment should have been reduced by the difference between the fair market value of the Ogden Property and their \$200,000.00 purchase price was never presented to the district court because the facts giving rise to this issue had not yet occurred. Even though the Parks had purchased the Security Mutual Note while the case was still before the district court, they had not yet foreclosed on the Ogden Property or purchased the Property prior to the court's final judgment.

A litigant who fails to raise an issue before the district court is generally barred from raising it for the first time on an appeal. State v. Lopez, 886 P.2d 1105, 1113 (Utah 1994). However, this Court has recognized an exception to this rule where "exceptional circumstances" are present. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5, 7 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Utah courts have carved out this "exceptional circumstances" exception as a "safety device,"

to assure that ‘manifest injustice’ does not result from the failure to consider an issue on appeal.” *Id.* quoting *State v. Archambeau*, 820 P.2d 920, 923 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

This Court has held that the “exceptional circumstances” exception is not a precise doctrine “which may be analyzed in terms of fixed elements, as it is a descriptive term used to memorialize an appellate court’s judgment that even though an issue was not raised below . . . unique procedural circumstances nonetheless permit consideration of the merits of the issue on appeal.” *Id.* at 8. Such “unique procedural circumstances” existed in *State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1994), where the Utah Supreme Court noted that a change in the law or the settled interpretation of the law which arose after trial justified consideration of the appellant’s issue raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 10.

In this case, “exceptional circumstances” exist which permit this Court’s consideration of an issue which was impossible to raise in the district court. As set forth above, the facts giving rise to Stanford’s claim that his judgment should be reduced by the difference in the fair market value of the Ogden Property and the Parks’ \$200,000.00 purchase price did not occur until *after* the court had already entered judgment against him. Accordingly, like the appellant in *Lopez*, it was impossible for Stanford to raise this issue prior to the entry of the judgment against him.

Stanford contends that there are sufficient facts in the record on appeal to demonstrate the viability of this issue where the Parks held the Security Mutual Note in their favor against Stanford and where there the Ogden Property was appraised at

\$425,000.00 to \$450,000.00. (R. 601; 616-619; 430-431.) Moreover, the intent of the “exceptional circumstances” exception would be served in this case where absent review of this issue Stanford will be potentially be liable for a judgment which should be reduced by no less than \$225,000.00. Furthermore, as a guarantor, the Utah Supreme Court has extended § 57-32-1 to Stanford and Stanford is therefore entitled to its protection. Additionally, consideration of this issue is germane to the other issues presented on this appeal where the issue concerns the amount of the judgment which Stanford should ultimately be liable for.

Utah appellate courts permit the review of an issue not presented to a trial court as a “safety device” to assure that “manifest injustice” does not result. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d at 8. In this case, such a safety mechanism is necessary to consider whether the district court’s judgment amount should be reduced as a matter of law by virtue of U.C.A. § 57-32-1. Additionally, a judgment against Stanford for \$200,000.00 to \$250,000.000 more than it should be constitutes the type of manifest injustice the “exceptional circumstances” exception was meant to prevent where the Parks also now own the Ogden Property.

Stanford did not present this issue below because the facts giving rise to this issue had not yet occurred. It was not because he simply neglected it or because his legal counsel at the time chose not to argue it as tactical strategy. The unique procedural

circumstances of this case rendered it impossible for Stanford to raise this issue below.

Accordingly, Stanford respectfully asks the Court to permit review of this issue on appeal.

STATEMENT OF DETERMINATIVE LAW

Stanford believes that interpretation of the following rule and statute may be determinative of portions of this appeal.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c)

(c) *Motion and proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32

At any time within three months after any sale of property under a trust deed as provided in Section 57-1-23, 57-1-24, and 57-1-27, an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security, and in that action the complaint shall set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness that was secured by the trust deed, the amount for which the property was sold, and the fair market value of the property at the date of sale. Before rendering judgment, the court shall bind the fair market value of the property at the date of sale. The court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of the indebtedness with interest, costs, and expenses of sale, including trustee's and attorney's fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale. In any action brought under this section, the prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This case involves the Parks' double recover of a debt which Stanford had guaranteed. Stanford signed various documents wherein he guaranteed Snowmass'

payments to the Parks. Stanford's guarantee was limited to a total amount of \$500,000.00. However, when Snowmass failed to fulfill its obligation, Stanford paid the Parks over \$750,000.00 of his own money to honor his guarantee. Notwithstanding Stanford's payments in excess of his personal guarantee, the Parks sought, and received, a judgment against Stanford for over a million dollars.

II. Course of Proceedings

The Parks filed a Complaint against Stanford seeking to recover an alleged \$761,948.00 debt which Stanford had guaranteed. Soon after filing their Complaint, the Parks moved for partial summary judgment and sought a determination that: (1) Stanford was liable to them based upon his guarantee, and (2) that Stanford was not entitled to offset over \$750,000.00 in payments which he had made to the Parks against his guarantee. The Parks argued that a July 1995 Trust Deed Note constituted the final and integrated agreement between the parties and that pursuant to that Note, Stanford was liable for \$500,000.00 plus interest on that principal amount.

In August of 2006, the Parks filed another motion for summary judgment which sought a final judgment against Stanford based on his personal guarantee. Stanford filed opposing memoranda to the Parks' motions for summary judgment wherein he argued that there were genuine issues of fact regarding the amount of his guarantee and whether his personal payments to the Parks in accordance with his guarantee should be credited

towards that guarantee. Hearings on the motions for summary judgment were held before Judge Quinn on March 13, 2006, February 16, 2007, and April 29, 2008.

III. Disposition Below

At the March 13, 2006, hearing on the Parks' motion for partial summary judgment, Judge Quinn concluded as a matter of law that none of Stanford's payments could be applied towards his \$500,000.00 guarantee. Judge Quinn stated from the bench that since there was no evidence that Stanford had directed the Parks to apply his personal payments towards his guarantee, he was not entitled to an offset of those payments as matter of law. On June 5, 2006, the court issued an Order reiterating its ruling at the March 13, 2006, hearing. (A copy of this Order is included in this brief's addendum as Ex. F.) In its Order, the court also stated that it could not determine as a matter of law what amount Stanford was liable for by virtue of his guarantee.

At a hearing on April 29, 2008, Judge Quinn granted the Parks' remaining motion for summary judgment. On June 3, 2008, the trial court entered a Judgment against Stanford in the total amount of \$1,009,872.35, together with interest at 15% per annum. (A copy of the Judgment is included in this brief's addendum as Ex. F.) This amount was comprised of \$500,000.00 in principal, \$508,463.91 in interest on the principal amount, and \$1,408.44 in costs. Stanford filed a notice of appeal on July 2, 2008.

IV. Statement of Facts

A. Stanford's Involvement in the Purchase of the Ogden Property

1. On April 1, 1994, Gary B. Stanford ("Stanford") and Richard Buckway ("Buckway") entered into a real estate purchase contract ("REPC") with Kang and Marsha Park (the "Parks") (R. 210; Add. Ex. C.)²
2. Pursuant to the REPC, Stanford and Buckway agreed to purchase a commercial real estate property in Ogden, Utah (the "Ogden Property") from the Parks for \$1,000,000.00. (R. 210; Add. Ex. C.)
3. The REPC provided that Stanford would personally guarantee the payment of \$500,000.00 plus interest. (R. 213; Add. Ex. C.)
4. The REPC also provided that Stanford and Buckway would be responsible for Mr. Kang's obligations on a Deed of Trust and Security dated March 12, 1992, between Mr. Kang and Security Mutual Life Insurance Company ("Security Mutual").
5. The Ogden Property was subject to the Security Mutual Trust Deed which carried a balance of approximately \$266,484.40 at the time the parties' executed the REPC. (R. 215; Add. Ex. C.)
6. Stanford and Buckway took possession of the Ogden Property in May of 1994 and soon after began to make monthly payments to the Parks. (R. 202.)

² A copy of the April 1, 1994, REPC is included in this brief's addendum as Exhibit "C."

7. Since there had not yet been an official closing on the Ogden Property, the Parks' attorney at the time Frederick S. Prince, Jr. ("Prince") sent a letter to Stanford and Buckway which summarized the REPC's essential terms. (R. 224-228.)

8. In the letter, Prince summarized Stanford's guarantee as follows, "[t]his can only be interpreted as limiting Dr. Stanford's liability to the \$500,000 amount" and later stated that Dr. Stanford's liability was limited to \$500,000.00 (R. 225-226.)

9. In approximately October of 1994, the parties mutually agreed to modify the terms of the REPC. Prince sent Stanford and Buckway another letter on October 11, 1994, confirming the new contract terms. In that letter, Prince wrote that "Dr. Stanford will personally guarantee the Note, but his guarantee will be limited to a maximum liability of \$500,000." (R. 230-231.)

10. In connection with the Ogden Property purchase, the parties also agreed that Snowmass, LLC ("Snowmass"), a limited liability company which Stanford and Buckway were members of, would assume the Security Mutual Note. (R. 202.)

11. On October 24, 1994, Prince sent Stanford and Buckway a letter setting forth the essential terms of the modified REPC.³ The letter stated that the purchase price would be reduced from \$1,000,000.00 to \$900,000.00. With respect to Stanford's

³ A copy of the October 24, 1994, contract is included in this brief's addendum as Exhibit "D"

guarantee, the Parks' attorney reiterated that "his guarantee will be limited to a maximum liability of \$500,000." (R. 233-235; Add. Ex. D.)

12. At the end of the letter, Prince included the language "AGREED AND ACCEPTED" and included signature lines for Stanford, Buckway, and the Parks. (R. 235; Add. Ex. D.)

13. Stanford, Buckway, and the Parks each signed the letter thereby accepting the REPC's new terms. (R. 235; Add. Ex. D.)

14. Each of the recitals in the aforementioned documents were consistent with Stanford's intent that he only be liable on his guarantee for a maximum amount of \$500,000.00. (R. 204.)

15. Pursuant to their obligation, Stanford and Buckway arranged for Snowmass to assume the Security Mutual Note in approximately June of 1995. (R. 204.)

16. Once Snowmass had arranged for assumption of the Security Mutual Note, the Parks' attorney prepared a Trust Deed Note dated July 1, 1995, (the "July Trust Deed") in the principal amount of \$645,683.27. (R. 3-10.)⁴

17. The July Trust Deed identified Snowmass as the Borrower rather than Stanford and Buckway like the previous documents had. (R. 3; Add. Ex. E.)

⁴ A copy of the July 1, 1995, Trust Deed Note is included in this brief's addendum as Exhibit "E."

18. The July Trust Deed contains the following guarantee language with respect to Stanford,

By his signature, individually, on this note, Gary B. Stanford agrees to unconditionally guarantee the payment of this note, but in no even shall Gary B. Stanford's liability (excluding portions thereof attributable to interest and costs) when added to any deficiency judgment which may be entered against him by virtue of his guaranty of the Security Mutual Life Insurance Co. note (excluding interest and costs), exceed the sum of FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$500,000).

(R. 4; Add. Ex. E.)

19. The July Trust Deed's language that Stanford's \$500,000.00 guaranty excluded portions attributable to interest was contrary to Stanford's intention as well as Prince's summation of the guarantee. (R. 205.)

20. Buckway stated that it was always his and Stanford's intent that Stanford not guarantee any more than \$500,000.00 of the total purchase price. (R. 370.)

21. J.R. Christensen, a silent partner of Snowmass from 1994-1995 also stated that Stanford's guarantee was not to exceed \$500,000.00. (R. 282.)

22. The July Trust Deed also states that "all other instruments evidencing or securing the indebtedness hereunder are hereby made part of this Note and are deemed incorporated herein in full." (R. 4; Add. Ex. E.)

B. Stanford Makes Payments to the Parks Pursuant to his Guarantee

23. After taking possession of the Ogden Property, Snowmass began making payments to the Parks pursuant to the REPC. (R. 202.)

24. Those payments partially paid the amount owing to the Parks and partially paid the amounts owing on the Security Mutual Note. (R. 308.)

25. However, in 1994 and 1995, Snowmass missed several payments it was required to make pursuant to the July Trust Deed. (R. 159; 203-205.)

26. When Snowmass failed to make these payments, Mr. Park contacted Stanford directly to demand payment based on Stanford's personal guarantee. (R. 205; 211-261.)

27. To honor his personal guarantee, Stanford made payments to the Parks in excess of \$750,000.00. These payments were made to fulfill the Parks' obligation under the Security Mutual Note, Snowmass' obligation under the Security Mutual Note, Snowmass' payment obligation under the July Trust Deed, and Stanford's guarantee of the July Trust Deed. (R. 160; 206; 263-280.)

28. When Stanford made personal payments to the Parks, he did so believing that the Parks would credit those payments towards his \$500,000.00 guarantee. (R. 161; 207.)

29. Had Stanford known that the Parks were not crediting his personal payments towards his \$500,000.00 guarantee, Stanford would not have made the payments upon the Parks' demand. (R. 161; 207.)

30. At times Stanford would transfer his own funds into Snowmass' bank account so that Snowmass could make its payment to the Parks. (R. 159.)

C. Mr. Park Purchases the Security Mutual Note & Forecloses

31. On or about December 19, 2007, Mr. Park purchased the Security Mutual Note which was secured by the Ogden Property. (R. 616.)

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