2008

# Kang S. Park and Marsha Park v. Gary B. Stanford : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Because far more than \$500,000 in principal remained owing on the second trust deed note that Stanford guaranteed, and because the language of that guarantee specifically excluded interest from the \$500,000 limitation, the trial court properly determined that Stanford owed Parks \$500,000 in principal, plus interest.

Next, Stanford cannot show that the trial court erred when it refused to credit certain payments against his guarantee. The unexpressed subjective beliefs of Stanford or his colleagues about his guarantee cannot alter or affect the unambiguous language in the final Note. Indeed, the argument that all payments made by Stanford should have been credited to his guarantee ignores applicable case law, and is without any factual support.

Last, given the circumstances of Snowmass' default on the first trust deed, their bankruptcy, and the foreclosure, Stanford is not entitled to any offset against the judgment, which is based on a separate note and trust deed.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATELY USED TO DETERMINE THE FACT AND EXTENT OF STANFORD'S LIABILITY.**

The “major purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trial by allowing the parties to pierce the pleadings to determine whether there is a genuine issue to present to the fact finder.” *Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Lundgren*, 692 P.2d 776, 779 (Utah 1984); *see also Brown v. Jorgensen*, 2006 UT App 168, ¶ 20, 136 P.3d 1252. Summary judgment is appropriate when there is “no genuine issue as to any material fact” and the “moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). When a motion for summary judgment is properly supported, an adverse party may not rest on allegations only, but “by affidavits or as otherwise provided ... must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue” of fact. *Id.*

Here, the material facts are not in dispute. The dispositive provision of the 1995 Note provides that Stanford

agrees to unconditionally guarantee the payment of this Note, but in no event shall Gary B. Stanford's liability (excluding portions thereof attributable to interests and costs) when added to any deficiency judgment which may be entered against him by virtue of his guarantee of the Security Mutual Life Insurance Co., Note (excluding interest and costs), exceed the sum of FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$500,000).

(R. 105 at 106.) Stanford concedes that this provision is facially unambiguous, but argues that it is rendered ambiguous by the terms of certain prior correspondence. (*See* Stanford's brief, pp. 18-20.) This argument is without merit.

“In Utah, a court may grant summary judgment enforcing a contract when the contract terms are ‘complete, clear, and unambiguous.’” *Young v. Wardley Corp*, 2008 UT App 104, ¶ 9 (*quoting Aspenwood, LLC v. C.A.T., LLC*, 2003 UT App 28, ¶ 30, 73 P.3d 947). “If the language within the four corners of the contract is unambiguous, then a court does not resort to extrinsic evidence of the contract's meaning, and a court determines the parties' intentions from the plain meaning of the contractual language as a matter of law.” *Id.* (*quoting Bakowski v. Mountain States Steel, Inc.*, 2002 UT 62, ¶ 16, 52 P.3d 1179. “In analyzing the language in the [contract], ‘[i]t is [the trial] court's duty to enforce the intentions of the parties as expressed in the plain language of the [contract's] covenants.’” *Id.*, ¶ 10 (*quoting Holladay Duplex Mgmt. Co. v. Howells*, 2002 UT App 125, ¶ 2, 47 P.3d 104. “The trial court is to consider “[e]ach contract provision ... in relation to all of the others, with a view to giving effect to all and ignoring none.” *Id.* (*quoting Plateau Mining Co. v. Utah Div. of State Lands & Forestry*, 802 P.2d 720, 725 (Utah 1990)).

Recently, the Utah Supreme Court held that, “before permitting recourse to extrinsic evidence, a court must make a determination of facial ambiguity.” *Daynes v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 25, 190 P.3d 1269 (citing *Ward v. Intermountain Farmers Assoc.*, 907 P.2d 264, 268 (Utah 1995)). Moreover, even if a judge decides to consider extrinsic evidence, he or she must ensure that “the interpretations contended for are reasonably supported by the language of the contract.” *Id.*, ¶ 26 (*quoting Ward*, 907 P.2d at 268). “Thus, a correct

application of the Ward rule to determine what the writing means begins and ends with the language of the contract.” *Id.*, ¶ 30.

Here, in order to determine that Stanford’s guarantee in the 1995 Note is ambiguous, this Court must first conclude that the language of the guarantee is “capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms or other facial deficiencies.” *Peterson v. The Sunrider Corporation*, 2002 UT 43, ¶ 19, 43 P.3d 918. Stanford does not argue that this is the case. To the contrary, the language of the guarantee states in two separate instances that the \$500,000 cap “excludes interest.” ( R. 106.)

The only way this language regarding interest, when compared to any other document, can create an ambiguity is if it is *read out of* the Note altogether. This expressly contradicts the rule of contract interpretation that a trial court give effect to all contract provisions and ignore none, *see Young v. Wardley Corp*, 2008 UT App 104, ¶ 10, as well as the rule that parole evidence may not be used to distinguish or contradict the terms of the contract, *see Hall v. Process Instruments and Control, Inc.*, 866 P.2d 604, 607 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). Nowhere in the language of the guarantee is there any hint of ambiguity regarding the fact that interest is excluded from the \$500,000 cap.

Stanford presents no facts to support his argument that the language recited above is ambiguous. In this case, as in *Daynes*, Stanford relies on a series of prior communications which were contrary to express language in the final agreement. Indeed, Stanford attempts



to rely on letters exchanged more than eight months prior (September and October 1994) to the time that the Note and trust deed were ultimately executed (July 1995).

More specifically, Stanford contends that the guarantee is rendered ambiguous by virtue of the following language in the second Trust deed Note:

Such security instruments and all other instruments evidencing or securing the indebtedness hereunder are hereby made part of this Note and are deemed incorporated herein in full.

In effect, Stanford is arguing that the September and October, 1994 letters “evidence . . . the indebtedness.” (Stanford’s brief, p. 19-21.)

This argument fails in light of Stanford’s own concessions about the events between October 1994 and July 1995. Stanford acknowledged that between the October 1994 letter, and the July 1995 Note, his partner, Dix Buckway, told him that there had been changes made in the documents. (Stanford depo., p. 132, R. 343.) Stanford himself recognized that he did not know the nature of the discussions that took place between the date of the correspondence and his execution of the Note and Trust deed. (Stanford depo., p. 85, 86, R. 341.) Stanford acknowledged that he did not participate in these negotiations, that he never discussed his understanding of the terms of his guarantee with Parks, nor did he tell Parks that his understanding was different than what was expressed in the terms of the Note he signed. (Stanford depo., p. 86, R. 341.) Indeed, Stanford acknowledged that he did not express any problem with the language in the 1995 Note that excluded interest from his cap (Stanford depo., p. 83, 84, l. 7-10; R. 340), and acknowledged that it was part of the process

that allowed the purchase obligation for the property to be reduced from \$1 million to \$900,000 (Stanford depo., p. 85, l. 5-8; R. 341). Stanford's characterization of events was that "Park seemed delighted in making small changes to enhance their position, but I went ahead and signed nevertheless." (Stanford depo., p. 85, l. 1-4; R. 341.) Stanford acknowledged that he knew that the changes were not going to enhance his position, and that when he signed the Note, he had not discussed his understanding of the guarantee with anyone other than his partner, Dix Buckway. (Stanford depo., p. 84, l. 3-10; p. 85, p. 86, l. 7-11; R. 334-343.)

Whatever Stanford and Buckway talked about outside of the Parks' presence, and what Stanford and JR Christensen discussed in private is inadmissible hearsay. These discussions fail to comply with Utah R. Evid. 801 and 802, are inadmissible, and therefore cannot be used to defeat a motion for summary judgment under Utah R. Civ. P. 56. *See Wayment v. Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc.*, 2005 UT 25, 116 P.3d 271 ("statements that are 'not ... admissible in evidence ... may not be considered on summary judgment under Rule 56(e)' (quoting *Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983)); *see also Walker v. Rocky Mtn. Recreation Corp.*, 508 P. 2d 538, 542 (Utah 1973) (affidavits must "set forth facts that would be admissible in evidence...Hearsay and opinion testimony that would not be admissible if testified to at the trial may not properly be set forth in an affidavit.")).

Stanford argues that his guarantee is rendered ambiguous by its reference to "all other instruments evidencing or securing the indebtedness hereunder are hereby made part of this

Note and are deemed incorporated herein in full.” The prior letters are not “instruments,” and do not “evidence” the “indebtedness;” indeed, nowhere does this clause refer to earlier correspondence.<sup>1</sup> At best, the Real Estate Purchase Contract ( R. 93), which expressly *includes* interest (at R. 96, ¶ 3), the September, 1994 letter ( R. 225, ¶ 5), which again expressly *includes* interest, the October 1994 letter, and the many conversations and discussions that occurred in between, of which Stanford had no knowledge and did not ask any questions, reflect the back and forth of discussions culminating in a final agreement signed in July 1995, and not part of the contract itself. Other “instruments” evidencing or securing the indebtedness, in this case, would have included the (second) 1995 Trust Deed in favor of Parks, and Stanford’s assumption of the underlying first trust deed evidencing Snowmass and Stanford’s obligations to Security Mutual, and the separate guarantees that Stanford executed in favor of Security Mutual. Accordingly, this argument must fail.

As a matter of law, Stanford’s intention is found in the four corners of the unambiguous 1995 Note. *Ron Case Roofing v. Blomquist*, 773 P.2d 1382,1385 (Utah 1984).

What Stanford may have silently “intended” is immaterial, unless that intention was

---

<sup>1</sup> The argument that this clause somehow leads to the conclusion that the 1995 Note is not an integrated document, is incorrect and without basis. This clause, like the clause in *Daynes v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 23, 190 P.3d 1269, specifies that all other “instruments evidencing or securing the indebtedness hereunder are hereby made part of this Note and are deemed incorporated herein in full.” This satisfies the integration clause standard described in *Daynes*. *See id.* In any event, Stanford fails to explain why, either legally or factually, lack of an integration clause would necessarily affect the plain language of the Note itself.

expressed by him and agreed to by Parks. *See Zions First Natl. Bk. v. B. Jensen Interiors*, 781 P.2d 478, 480 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989) (“It is well established in the law that unexpressed intentions do not affect the validity of a contract. . .”).

Thus, this Court can conclude, as did the trial court, that the language of Stanford’s guarantee is unambiguous as a matter of law, and that the cap does not include interest as Appellant now claims.

## **II. STANFORD FAILS TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO GIVE HIM CREDIT TOWARD HIS GUARANTEE.**

Section II of Stanford’s brief, at p. 22, argues that the trial court erred “by not giving [Stanford] credit toward his \$500,000 guarantee.” However, Stanford fails to establish any error in connection with this ruling.

In its June 5, 2006 Order, the trial court determined, “as a matter of law, that none of the payments made to date by Stanford or Snowmass can be applied so as to reduce the \$500,000 personal guarantee from Stanford to the plaintiffs.” R. 391. Stanford argues that reversal is appropriate because every payment made by him must be construed as performance upon his guarantee. This argument ignores applicable case law, and is without any factual support from the record.

Stanford’s first argument - that all payments received by Parks should necessarily have been applied to his guarantee, *see* Stanford’s brief, pp. 23-27, is contrary to applicable case law. Absent some clear contractual language, subsequent agreement, or specific instruction by the guarantor, Parks were entitled to apply payments received in the manner

most beneficial to them. *See Lee v. Yano*, 997 P.2d 68, 75-76 (Hawaii Ct. App. 2000) (citing, et alia, *Mid-Continent Supply Co. v. Atkins & Potter Drilling Corp.*, 229 F.2d 68, 69 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1956)); *Wyandotte Coal & Lime Co. v. Wyandotte Pav. & Constr. Co.*, 154 P.1012 (Kansas 1916); *Standard Accident Ins. Co. v. Copper Hills Motor Hotels, Inc.*, 424 P.2d 154, 156 (Ariz. 1967) (“Neither sureties nor guarantors have the right to control the application which either the debtor or creditor makes of the payment.” (citations omitted)).

Rather than address this general rule, Stanford relies heavily on a 1929 New Jersey decision, *Monmouth Plumbing Supply v. McDonald*, 147 A. 627, to support his argument that Parks were obligated to credit payments against Stanford’s guarantee. *Monmouth* has never been favorably cited by any court in this country, and presents a unique set of facts not helpful in this case. In *Monmouth*, the creditor extended new credit to the guarantor’s son after the guarantee limit had been paid by the guarantor. Here, there is no assertion, and certainly no facts of record to show, that the amount of the loan was increased, as occurred in *Monmouth*. In *Monmouth*, the claim by the creditor was that the guarantee was a continuing guarantee, and could continue to apply to new purchases even after the father of the borrower had paid the maximum guarantee amount. Here, the creditor had no reason to know or believe that the payments were to be applied to the guarantee, because the guarantor never asked or directed that they be applied to the guarantee. The *Monmouth* case is therefore inapposite.

There is no record evidence of an agreement by Parks to apply any payments made before this dispute arose to the guarantee, and Stanford alleges no facts whatsoever to support his argument. “When a party opposes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and fails to file any responsive affidavits or other evidentiary materials allowed by Rule 56(e), the trial court may properly conclude that there are no genuine issues of fact.” *Busch Corp. v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 743 P.2d 1217, 1219 (Utah 1987). Absent a genuine issue of material fact, “the Court need only decide whether, on the basis of the applicable law, the moving party is entitled to judgment.” *Id.* “[B]are contentions, unsupported by any specification of facts in support thereof, raise no material questions of fact as will preclude the entry of summary judgment.” *Massey v. Utah Power & Light*, 609 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1980).

The *only* fact asserted in this regard is paragraph 28 of Stafford’s “Statement of Facts,” Stanford’s brief, p. 14, which alleges “[w]hen [Stanford] made personal payments to the [Parks], he did so believing that the Parks would credit those payments towards his \$500,000 guarantee.” If Stanford “believed” that payments were to be credited against his guarantee, and if it was critical to his decision to continue funding Snowmass, he had a legal obligation to tell Parks that the payments were to be credited against his guarantee, and obtain their consent to this request. *See Lee v. Yano*, 997 P.2d 68, at 76; *Weston Group Inc. v. A.B. Hirschfeld Press, Inc.*, 845 P. 2d 1162, 1167 (Colo. 1993). It is undisputed that Stanford never did make such a request, nor did Parks assent to it. Conspicuously absent

from Stanford's lengthy affidavit (R. 201) is any statement that he ever advised or requested of Parks that any of the payments being made on the Note be credited against his personal guarantee. None of the letters from Park to Stanford attached to the affidavit make any reference to the guarantee. (R. 241- 261.) There is simply no statement of record that Stanford *ever* advised or requested of Parks that any of the payments being made on the Note were to be credited against the personal guarantee. Thus, Stanford offers no facts that support his argument that summary judgment was improperly granted.

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